Journal of Psychiatric Research 70 (2015) 50-57

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Psychiatric Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/psychires



Review

Effect of tyrosine supplementation on clinical and healthy populations under stress or cognitive demands—A review



Bryant J. Jongkees ^a, Bernhard Hommel ^a, Simone Kühn ^b, Lorenza S. Colzato ^{a, *}

^a Institute of Psychological Research and Leiden Institute for Brain and Cognition, Leiden University, Wassenaarseweg 52, 2333 AK, Leiden, Netherlands ^b Center for Lifespan Psychology, Max Planck Institute for Human Development, Lentzeallee 94, 14195 Berlin, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 April 2015 Received in revised form 28 July 2015 Accepted 24 August 2015

Keywords: Tyrosine Dopamine Norepinephrine Cognition Stress Mood

ABSTRACT

Consuming the amino-acid tyrosine (TYR), the precursor of dopamine (DA) and norepinephrine (NE), may counteract decrements in neurotransmitter function and cognitive performance. However, reports on the effectiveness of TYR supplementation vary considerably, with some studies finding beneficial effects, whereas others do not. Here we review the available cognitive/behavioral studies on TYR, to elucidate whether and when TYR supplementation can be beneficial for performance. The potential of using TYR supplementation to treat clinical disorders seems limited and its benefits are likely determined by the presence and extent of impaired neurotransmitter function and synthesis. Likewise, the potential of TYR supplementation for enhancing physical exercise seems minimal as well, perhaps because the link between physical exercise and catecholamine function is mediated by many other factors. In contrast, TYR does seem to effectively enhance cognitive performance, particularly in short-term stressful and/or cognitively demanding situations. We conclude that TYR is an effective enhancer of cognition, but only when neurotransmitter function is intact and DA and/or NE is temporarily depleted.

© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 1
2.	Literature overview	3
	2.1. Clinical populations	3
	2.2. Stressed individuals	4
	2.3. Cognitive demands and healthy individuals	5
3.	Conclusion	. 6
	Contributors	
	Role of funding source	. 6
	Conflicts of interest	. 6
	Acknowledgment	6
	References	6

1. Introduction

The amino-acid L-Tyrosine (TYR) is the biochemical precursor of the catecholamines dopamine (DA) and norepinephrine (NE). Given

E-mail address: colzato@fsw.leidenuniv.nl (L.S. Colzato).

the right circumstances TYR supplementation can enhance DA and NE levels in the brain (Cuche et al., 1985; Gibson and Wurtman, 1977; Tam et al., 1990) and this possibility has led numerous studies to investigate whether administration of TYR can positively influence cognitive or behavioral performance that relies on cate-cholamine function. Unfortunately, reports on the effectiveness of TYR supplementation have varied greatly, with some studies showing a marked positive effect, whereas others report no

 $[\]ast$ Corresponding author. Wassenaarseweg 52, Room 2B13A, 2333 AK, Leiden, Netherlands.

significant changes. Here we provide a summary review of the available cognitive and behavioral TYR studies and their main results, to gain a better understanding of the conditions under which TYR has a positive effect and whether TYR may be useful in a clinical context. Further, we hope to help inform future studies on how to best design and analyze experiments regarding TYR.

Before we review the behavioral and cognitive studies on TYR. we will first elaborate on the mechanism through which TYR presumably enhances brain physiology. As we will argue, the nature of this mechanism might play a crucial role in determining whether and to what extent supplementation can benefit performance. Plasma TYR levels peak between 1 and 2 h after consumption and can remain significantly elevated up to 8 h (Glaeser et al., 1979). Correspondingly, in rats it was shown prefrontal DA increased 1 h after TYR administration, but not earlier (Tam et al., 1990). Once it has passed the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and is taken up by the appropriate brain cells, TYR is converted into L-DOPA through an enzyme called tyrosine-hydroxylase (TH; Daubner et al., 2011). TH activity initially increases upon consumption of TYR, but it is regulated by end-product inhibition (Daubner et al., 2011; Tam et al., 1990), preventing large increases in catecholamine release. L-DOPA is converted into DA, resulting in an increase in DA level. In turn, DA can be converted into NE through the enzyme dopamine beta-hydroxylase (DBH; Kaufman and Friedman, 1965).

Importantly, TYR has been found to enhance neurotransmitter synthesis only in actively firing neurons (Fernstrom and Fernstrom, 2007; Lehnert et al., 1984; Tam et al., 1990). This suggests TYR can reverse a process called neurotransmitter depletion, in which increased brain activity leads to decreased DA and NE levels, with behavioral performance levels declining accordingly. This role as a depletion reverser is best illustrated by the following example. When exposed to stress or a cognitively challenging task, catecholamine neurons become more active and their synthesis rate increases (Kvetnansky et al., 2009; Lehnert et al., 1984; Mahoney et al., 2007). As more neurotransmitters are synthesized to meet the situational demands, the resource from which they are synthesized, namely TYR, is expended. Synthesis becomes limited once TYR runs low, leading to less neurotransmitter availability and corresponding decrements in performance (Goldman-Rakic et al., 2000; Muly et al., 1998). In this situation TYR might benefit brain function by providing the resources necessary to allow neurotransmitter synthesis to continue and maintain catecholamine levels needed to ensure optimal performance (Wurtman et al., 1981). On the contrary, one may assume when the rate of synthesis is not elevated then TYR supplementation amounts to providing unnecessary extra resources from which to synthesize DA and NE, which should not impact these neurotransmitters levels or their associated performance. Indeed, in rats it was shown that TYR administration only enhanced DA synthesis in the striatum when this region was pharmacologically activated (Tam et al., 1990). In other words, TYR supplementation seems to have a beneficial effect only in situations that stimulate neurotransmitter synthesis, i.e., situations that are sufficiently stressful or challenging. Indeed, in the present review we will demonstrate that TYR's role as a depletion reverser fits well with the pattern of results found in the literature.

To date there is not yet a single, agreed upon effective dose for TYR supplementation and thus administered doses have varied

Table 1

Characteristics and main outcomes of the reviewed studies.

Authors	Sample	Dose of TYR	Findings
Banderet and Lieberman (1989)	Healthy, cold exposure ($N = 23$)	100 mg/kg	Reduced symptoms, improved mood, reaction times
			and vigilance
Chinevere et al. (2002)	Healthy, physically exerted $(N = 9)$	150 mg/kg	No effect of TYR
Colzato et al. (2013)	Healthy, cognition challenged ($N = 22$)	2.0 g	Improved working memory
Colzato et al. (2014a)	Healthy, cognition challenged $(N = 22)$	2.0 g	Improved inhibitory control
Colzato et al. (2014b)	Healthy, cognition challenged $(N = 32)$	2.0 g	Improved convergent thinking
Deutsch et al. (1994)	Schizophrenia patients ($N = 11$)	10.0 g	Increased saccadic intrusions, no effect on behavior or cognition
Deijen and Orbleke (1994)	Healthy, auditory stress ($N = 16$)	100 mg/kg	Improved working memory and Stroop performance
Deijen et al. (1999)	Healthy, intensive combat training $(N = 21)$	2.0 g	Improved memory and tracking performance
Eisenberg et al. (1988)	ADHD patients ($N = 7$)	100 mg/kg	No effect of TYR
Gelenberg et al. (1980)	Depressive patients $(N = 1)$	100 mg/kg	Self-rated improvement of depression
Gelenberg et al. (1990)	Depressive patients ($N = 65$)	100 mg/kg	No effect of TYR
Goldberg et al. (1980)	Depressive patients $(N = 2)$	100 mg/kg	Improvement of symptoms
Growdon et al. (1982)	Parkinson's patients ($N = 23$)	100 mg/kg	Increased levels of TYR and homovanillic acid.
Kishore et al. (2013)	Healthy, heat exposure $(N = 10)$	6.5 g	Reduced delay in event related potentials
Leathwood and Pollet (1983)	Healthy, no manipulation ($N = 60$)	500 mg	No effect of TYR on mood
Lemoine et al. (1989)	Parkinson's patients ($N = 10$)	1.6-4.0 g	Improvement of symptoms
Lieberman et al. (1983)	Healthy, no manipulation ($N = 16$)	100 mg/kg	No effect of TYR on mood
Magill et al. (2003)	Healthy, sleep deprivation ($N = 76$)	150 mg/kg	Improved working memory, reasoning and vigilance
Mahoney et al. (2007)	Healthy, cold exposure ($N = 19$)	150 mg/kg	Improved working memory
Nemzer et al. (1986)	ADHD patients ($N = 14$)	140 mg/kg	No effect of TYR
O'Brien et al. (2007)	Healthy, cold exposure ($N = 15$)	300 mg/kg	Improved working memory
Palinkas et al. (2007)	Healthy, in Antarctica ($N = 43, 42$)	12 g	Improved mood during winter
Pietz et al. (1995)	Phenylketonuria patients ($N = 24$)	100 mg/kg	No effect of TYR
Pollin et al. (1961)	Schizophrenia patients ($N = 12$)	285 mg/kg	No effect of TYR
Posner et al. (2009)	ADHD patients ($N = 1$)	100 mg/kg	Improvement of symptoms
Reimherr et al. (1987)	ADHD patients ($N = 12$)	50-150 mg/kg	Short term, unsustained clinical response
Shurtleff et al. (1994)	Healthy, cold exposure $(N = 8)$	150 mg/kg	Improved working memory
Smith et al. (1998)	Phenylketonuria patients ($N = 21$)	100 mg/kg	No effect of TYR
Steenbergen et al. (2015)	Healthy, cognition challenged ($N = 22$)	2.0 g	Improved cognitive flexibility
Sutton et al. (2005)	Healthy, physically exerted ($N = 20$)	150 mg/kg	No effect of TYR
Thomas et al. (1999)	Healthy, cognition challenged ($N = 20$)	150 mg/kg	Improved working memory
Tumilty et al. (2011)	Healthy, heat exposure $(N = 8)$	150 mg/kg	Increased endurance capacity
Tumilty et al. (2014)	Healthy, heat exposure $(N = 7)$	150 mg/kg	No effect of TYR
Watson et al. (2012)	Healthy, heat exposure $(N = 8)$	150 mg/kg	No effect of TYR
Wood et al. (1985)	ADHD patients ($N = 12$)	150 mg/kg	Short term, unsustained clinical response

Studies reviewed in the present article, listing author names, publication years, type and size of sample, as well as potential stressor, dose of LL-Tyrosine and the study's main outcomes. TYR, LL-Tyrosine.

from 500 mg to 12 g per day (see Table 1). To put these numbers in perspective, the World Health Organization's daily upper requirement of TYR is 14 mg/kg (see Deijen, 2005), meaning an individual weighing 70 kg needs to consume approximately 1 g of TYR per day for normal functioning. Doses far exceeding 1 g are unlikely to confer any additional benefits, as the rate-limiting TH enzyme is assumed to be close to saturation under normal circumstances (Brodnik et al., 2012). Consistent with this idea. TYR transport across cell membranes decreases in healthy individuals after TYR supplementation (Wiesel et al., 1999). Any excess TYR would thus be metabolized rather than converted into L-DOPA. Future studies may wish to examine reductions in TYR transport with varying doses of TYR, to shed light on what an optimal dose might be. While too much TYR might not be extra beneficial, consuming too little might also be possible. In rats a dose of 50 but not 25 mg/kg was successful at increasing prefrontal DA level (Tam et al., 1990), although how these numbers translate to humans remains unclear. Complicating matters further, TYR shares a transporter across the BBB with several other large neutral amino-acids such as phenylalanine and tryptophan (Fernstrom, 1990). Hence the amount that crosses the BBB instead of being metabolized peripherally depends on the consumer's levels of these other amino-acids. For this reason studies investigating the effect of acute TYR supplementation should and often do have their subjects fast overnight to reduce competition from other amino-acids. This has important implications for the efficacy of TYR supplementation in a long-term setting, since completely avoiding these other amino-acids for longer periods might not be practical nor recommendable.

Such issues could be avoided by opting for L-DOPA rather than TYR administration, which acts more downstream and avoids the rate-limiting TH factor as well as the competition from other amino-acids. However there are a number of reasons why TYR supplementation might be preferable. First of all, the TH enzyme already being near saturation under normal circumstances (Brodnik et al., 2012) can be considered a positive characteristic, as it prevents large amounts of TYR being converted. In contrast, the conversion of L-DOPA into DA does not depend on such a ratelimiting factor, allowing far larger increases in catecholamines but also significantly increasing the risk of inducing levels that are detrimental for performance (Goldman-Rakic et al., 2000; Muly et al., 1998). Given the characteristic inverted-U profile of DA (Cools and D'Esposito, 2011), it would be easy for L-DOPA administration to push individuals to the lower right end of the curve, whereas the subtle increase from TYR is far less likely to do so. Given TYR's hypothesized role as a depletion reverser, it may even be that TYR maintains rather than changes an individual's position on this curve in the face of stress or cognitive demands. This also means the beneficial effects of TYR are likely smaller than L-DOPA's, especially for disorders associated with severe hypodopaminergic states. In TYR's favor, there are currently no established side-effects of long-term TYR supplementation, although one study showed increased saccadic intrusions during smooth-pursuit eye movement performance in patients with schizophrenia (Deutsch et al., 1994). On the other hand, chronic L-DOPA administration is associated with adverse symptoms such as dyskinesia, insomnia, nausea, and sometimes even psychosis (Foster and Hoffer, 2004; Liggins et al., 2012). However it should be noted studies on the chronic effect of TYR supplementation are still scarce and its potential long-term side-effects should be more extensively investigated before drawing definitive conclusions. Lastly, TYR might be preferred to L-DOPA simply because it is readily accessible to the general public, being sold in regular drug stores.

As mentioned earlier, most of the presently reviewed studies, especially those in healthy individuals, have focused on short-term effects of TYR and therefore our conclusions should mainly be considered in this context. The benefits of TYR during long-term stress are less investigated, although still promising. Prolonged stress exposure (e.g. low temperatures) can increase TH activity up to one month, suggesting TYR might be especially useful during this period. After one month, however, TH activity is no longer significantly elevated (Kvetnansky et al., 2009). Nevertheless, catecholamine neurons can remain highly active, leading to a depletion of DA and NE levels (Kvetnansky et al., 2009). This suggests TYR can also be beneficial in long-term settings. Indeed, a study in Antarctica residents (Palinkas et al., 2007) showed TYR has measurable benefits even after 7 weeks of exposure to extreme cold. Still, studies on short-term conditions far outweigh those on long-term effects and future studies should aim to lessen this discrepancy.

The available studies on TYR come from three major domains of research. First, many psychiatric disorders are associated with decreased DA and/or NE availability in the brain. Therefore, TYR has been investigated as a potential treatment for clinical symptoms associated with suboptimal catecholamine levels. Second, stress is thought to reduce catecholamine levels in the brain through increased turnover rates, leading to impairments in performance (Lehnert et al., 1984; Mahoney et al., 2007). As such, TYR supplementation has also been proposed as a potential reverser of stressinduced decrements in performance. Lastly, TYR also has promising implications for healthy individuals without overt exposure to stress, provided that high demands on cognitive performance create a stress-like state that might induce neurotransmitter depletion-the detrimental consequences of which might be counteracted by TYR supplementation (Colzato et al., 2014a; Steenbergen et al., 2015). We will use these three research areas to structure our overview, starting with studies on TYR and clinical populations, followed by studies on stressed but otherwise healthy individuals, after which we review studies on healthy humans in cognitively demanding situations. Characteristics and main outcomes of the reviewed studies are presented in Table 1.

2. Literature overview

2.1. Clinical populations

Many clinical conditions are characterized by suboptimal catecholamine levels, and this has led to the idea that TYR supplementation could alleviate catecholamine-related symptoms. Many clinical studies on TYR have concentrated on impaired DA function, whereas NE is less often investigated. Therefore the focus of this section will be on DA, while NE will be discussed only briefly.

One of the most prominent psychiatric disorders is depression and it has been linked to impaired DA and perhaps NE, function (Dunlop and Nemeroff, 2007). The possibility of using TYR as a treatment was proposed some decades ago already (Gelenberg and Gibson, 1984). This treatment was reported to help in very small samples (Gelenberg et al., 1980; Goldberg, 1980), but a larger, randomized study was unable to replicate this result (Gelenberg et al., 1990). This led to the conclusion that treating depression with TYR is not very promising (Fernstrom, 2000; Parker and Brotchie, 2011). However, depression is a complex and varied disorder that likely has many subtypes defined by different etiologies (e.g. DA versus serotonin deficiencies), as well as varying symptoms (e.g. lack of motivation versus anxiety) and these may differ per individual patient (Harald and Gordon, 2012). It is therefore unlikely a non-specific and simple treatment like food supplementation has a marked effect on samples that may be highly heterogeneous. Studies investigating the effect of TYR on depression may prove more fruitful if they take into account these different etiologies and symptoms while clearly distinguishing the response of different patient groups. For example, we speculate perhaps those depressed individuals experiencing a lack of motivation, which may result from DA deficiency (Dunlop and Nemeroff, 2007), are the ones who could benefit most from TYR supplementation. On the other hand, individuals with psychotic depression may have excess DA, perhaps in part because their DBH enzyme, which converts DA into NE, is less active (Sapru et al., 1989). Such individuals would be unlikely to benefit from a further boost in DA activity and therefore TYR supplementation may not be recommendable for them, even though their NE levels need to be increased. Indeed, inducing higher DA levels in psychotic patients may even exacerbate their symptoms rather than improving them.

TYR supplementation might be of interest for schizophrenia, although studies on this topic are scarce. Enhancing DA function in this disorder might seem counter-productive, given it is strongly associated with increased DA signaling, sensitivity, and synthesis capacity (Howes et al., 2015; Seeman, 2013). However, in this regard it is important to distinguish between striatal areas, often demonstrating a hyperdopaminergic state in schizophrenia, and extrastriatal, prefrontal regions showing, in contrast, a marked reduction in DA activity (Davis et al., 1991; Finlay, 2001; Slifstein et al., 2015). Although not meant as a strict dichotomy, striatal hyperactivity is strongly linked to positive, i.e. psychotic symptoms. whereas prefrontal hypoactivity is associated with negative symptoms and cognitive deficits (Guillin et al., 2007). For this reason it is possible TYR supplementation could exacerbate positive symptoms by further fueling the striatum, while alleviating negative symptoms and cognitive deficits by facilitating prefrontal cortex (PFC) function. Consistent with this hypothesis, DA agonists increase psychotic symptoms in certain patients (Lieberman et al., 1987), yet they can also improve cognitive task performance (Barch and Carter, 2005; Daniel et al., 1991). Another interesting possibility is TYR's enhancement of PFC function might even downregulate the striatal hyperactivity and thereby improve positive symptoms as well. This hypothesis is based on the idea that there is strong dopaminergic reciprocity between the PFC and striatum, with increases and decreases in prefrontal DA being associated with decreases and increases in striatal DA, respectively (Akil et al., 2003; Cools and D'Esposito, 2011; Meyer-Lindenberg et al., 2005).

To date, however, the few conducted studies do not support these speculations. One study assessing the effects of 3 weeks of TYR supplementation revealed no changes in behavior (Pollin et al., 1961), although the study reported solely qualitative observations made during interviews. The only study providing quantitative data reported no effect of 3 weeks of TYR supplementation on positive or negative symptoms, nor cognitive capacity as measured by the Wisconsin card sorting test and a memory test, despite increased plasma levels of TYR (Deutsch et al., 1994). This study did reveal an increase in saccadic intrusions during smooth-pursuit eye movement performance. It should be noted both aforementioned studies examined only 11-12 individuals and, given the possible heterogeneity of schizophrenia's etiology (Tandon et al., 2008), it is unlikely the patients within and across samples were comparable to each other. Therefore, we argue it is not yet warranted to dismiss TYR's potential for alleviating symptoms of schizophrenia. Instead, more studies are needed in which samples are larger and heterogeneity is kept as small as possible or response to TYR is distinguished between patients. Other issues deserving further investigation are (1) whether TYR should be administered during periods of remission, psychosis, or both, since striatal hyperactivity seems most prominent and reliably found during psychosis (Howes et al., 2015), (2) if and how TYR supplementation interacts with DA antagonists, i.e. antipsychotics, and (3) whether a dysregulation of tyrosine transport across cell membranes (Bongiovanni et al., 2013) influences effects of TYR supplementation in patients with schizophrenia, as this dysregulation is associated with impaired cognitive function (Wiesel et al., 2005).

The third disorder we review in relation to TYR is attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) as its etiology and symptoms strongly relate to reduced DA levels and impaired cognitive function (Del Campo et al., 2011). However, results from studies on aminoacid supplementation in ADHD are again not straightforward. Some individuals benefit from TYR (Posner et al., 2009; Reimherr et al., 1987; Wood et al., 1985), while other studies report no change in behavioral or cognitive function at all (Eisenberg et al., 1988; Nemzer et al., 1986). As is the case with depression, schizophrenia, and presumably most other psychiatric disorders, many different risk factors are associated with ADHD (Pellow et al., 2011) and they may all have different implications for potential effects of TYR supplementation. One such ADHD risk factor is impaired neurotransmitter metabolism (McConnel, 1985) and it has been proposed individuals suffering from this factor are the ones who can benefit from TYR supplementation, although they may account for only 5-10% of ADHD cases (Pellow et al., 2011). Therefore, future work on TYR and ADHD should consider these different risk factors, to elucidate whether and for whom TYR supplementation could be beneficial.

Parkinson's disease is characterized by a severe loss of dopaminergic neurons and decreased DA in many brain areas (Dauer and Przedborski, 2003), leading to impairments of behavior, emotion, and cognition. Interestingly, an early study showed administering TYR to Parkinson's patients raised levels of DA's metabolite homovanillic acid, suggesting TYR effectively promoted DA function (Growdon et al., 1982). Another early study reported clinical improvement in some, but not all patients after three years of TYR treatment (Lemoine et al., 1989). However, the reliability of the latter finding is debatable given a small sample of 10 patients was investigated and to the best of our knowledge these results have not been replicated or followed up on thus far. One reason TYR may not actually benefit every, if any, case of Parkinson's may be that the disorder is associated with reduced expression of the TH enzyme (Zhu et al., 2012), which converts TYR into L-DOPA. Low TH activity would contribute to decreased DA synthesis. If little TYR is converted into L-DOPA, then any DA deficits may not be due to a shortage of TYR, but rather its reduced conversion. Therefore, supplementing Parkinson's patients with TYR may amount to providing them with an unnecessary surplus of DA precursor. Furthermore, TYR stimulates neurotransmitter production only in already active neurons (Fernstrom and Fernstrom, 2007; Lehnert et al., 1984), yet Parkinson's is associated with a loss of dopaminergic neurons, thereby reducing TYR's site of action. Thus, the benefits of TYR observed in the aforementioned studies may have been either chance findings or fortunate cases in which TH expression was still relatively high. These possibilities underscore the need for considering factors such as reduced TH expression when investigating whether TYR supplementation can benefit Parkinson's patients or any other clinical population.

Lastly, TYR has also been investigated in relation to phenylketonuria, a disorder characterized by a shortage of TYR (Hanley et al., 2000). It sounds quite plausible TYR supplementation would benefit individuals suffering from this disorder, since supplementation is presumed to specifically remedy a shortage of TYR that limits neurotransmitter synthesis. However, several studies failed to find behavioral or cognitive improvements after administrating TYR to patients (e.g. Pietz et al., 1995; Smith et al., 1998) and indeed, simple TYR supplementation might not be recommendable for these patients (Van Spronsen et al., 2001). Many rationales exist for the relation between amino-acid supplementation and phenylketonuria (Van Spronsen et al., 2010). One proposed reason why supplementation is ineffective for these patients is that their elevated phenylalanine levels compete too strongly with TYR for access through the BBB (Kalsner et al., 2001), thus preventing TYR from being converted into DA and NE. This possibility highlights the fact that compromised integrity of any step in neurotransmitter synthesis may lead to a counterintuitive effect of TYR, even when individuals have suboptimal catecholamine levels. Wherever possible, studies on TYR and clinical populations should keep in mind such limiting factors of TYR conversion.

In sum, using TYR to treat psychiatric and neurological disorders associated with suboptimal catecholamine levels is less promising and more complex than initially thought. The effect of TYR on clinical symptoms may critically depend on whether a shortage of TYR contributes to the pathology, as well as whether and how neurotransmitter synthesis is affected by the disorder.

2.2. Stressed individuals

Stress induces increased catecholamine activity and turnover rates in the brain, leading to depletion of neurotransmitter levels as well as behavioral depression (Kvetnansky et al., 2009; Lehnert et al., 1984). However, studies that administered TYR to rats prior to stress exposure have shown neurotransmitter depletion and decrements in performance can be reversed (Lehnert et al., 1984; Lieberman et al., 2005; Rauch and Lieberman, 1990; Shurtleff et al., 1993; Yeghiayan et al., 2001). These findings fueled numerous studies investigating whether and under which conditions TYR can also improve human performance during stress. These studies often focused on either physical exercise or cognitive functions.

Studies on TYR and physical exercise have primarily focused on endurance exercise, hypothesizing that maintaining adequate DA levels in the brain can support the motivation to keep on performing well. Two studies have examined TYR and endurance exercise without an additional overt stressor, but neither found any improvement following TYR administration (Chinevere et al., 2002; Sutton et al., 2005). Other studies have looked at exercise performance during heat exposure, but the results were inconsistent. One study found TYR led to longer exercise times in the absence of an increase in ratings of perceived exertion and thermal sensation (Tumilty et al., 2011), suggesting TYR enhanced endurance. However, these results were not replicated in two later studies (Tumilty et al., 2014; Watson et al., 2012). Therefore, there is no consistent evidence TYR improves physical exercise performance, e.g. endurance, during stress. In contrast, we propose physical performance can benefit from TYR supplementation, but only under specific conditions that activate catecholamine neurons and recruit higher cognitive functions such as attention and cognitive control. In other words, we speculate physical performance only benefits from TYR supplementation when it places high enough cognitive demands on the individual that induce catecholamine depletion. Studies showing no effect of TYR might then have examined exercise that failed to sufficiently engage cognitive processes. This hypothesis is motivated by the numerous findings that TYR is effective at enhancing cognition during stress, as discussed below.

In remarkable contrast to the aforementioned studies, TYR consistently has an effect on cognitive performance when healthy humans consume TYR prior to stress exposure. In such studies hypothermia is often used as a stressor and TYR has been repeatedly shown to reverse the impairments in cognition it may cause (Mahoney et al., 2007; O'Brien et al., 2007; Shurtleff et al., 1994). These studies investigated the crucial cognitive aspect working memory, which involves actively maintaining and updating information in memory (Baddeley and Hitch, 1974; Miyake et al., 2000).

It is unsurprising working memory is often investigated in relation to TYR, given this function is closely associated with DA level (Cools et al., 2008; Goldman-Rakic et al., 2000; Moustafa et al., 2008; Siessmeier et al., 2006) and changes in catecholamine levels due to TYR are therefore likely to alter working memory performance. All studies reported cold exposure reduced working memory performance, yet this decline was reversed when subjects were supplemented with TYR. Another study looking into TYR and exposure to cold was performed by Banderet and Lieberman (1989), who considered a wider range of cognitive functions. They reported improvements in, for example, vigilance and reaction times on several tasks. Interestingly, these authors limited their analysis to "those individuals most affected by exposure to the cold" (p. 760), suggesting TYR only benefits individuals who would otherwise have been stressed by the coldness. This possibility underscores the usefulness of taking into account individual differences when investigating the effects of TYR (Jongkees et al., 2014). Furthermore, TYR has been beneficial for performance on the Stroop task and working memory while participants were exposed to an auditory stressor (Deijen and Orbleke, 1994), as well as for working memory, reasoning, and vigilance during sleep deprivation (Magill et al., 2003). Lastly, TYR has also been shown to improve both cognitive and behavioral performance in army cadets following an intensive combat training course. However, it is difficult to draw conclusions from this study, given that many other amino-acids were supplemented along with TYR and the placebo-group was not given a completely neutral placebo (Deijen et al., 1999).

Lastly, some studies have investigated whether TYR can reverse stress-induced mood decrements. Palinkas et al. (2007) supplemented TYR to residents of Antarctica, with the aim to improve mood during prolonged cold climate exposure. The adverse environment of Antarctica can be considered a multi-stressor intervention involving confinement and isolation as well as the inherent cold. Interestingly, Palinkas and colleagues found TYR improved mood, but only during the winter. This study is one of few that examines TYR supplementation in healthy individuals in a longterm setting. The result is consistent with the finding by Banderet and Lieberman (1989) that TYR reversed cold-induced reductions in mood. In contrast, TYR has been found not to influence mood without stress exposure (Leathwood and Pollet, 1983; Lieberman et al., 1983). These findings suggest TYR might be beneficial for mood, but only in stressful situations such as extreme cold.

Overall, the positive effects of TYR on cognitive performance are likely due to TYR preventing a decline of catecholamine availability during stress (Banderet and Lieberman, 1989; Kvetnansky et al., 2009; Lehnert et al., 1984), which prevents decrements in higher cognitive functions such as attention and working memory. Unfortunately, it is as of yet unclear whether these effects are attributable specifically to a modulation of DA, NE, or both. It is also still unknown what changes in cognition mediate the repletion of catecholamines and the reported improvements. For example, TYR's beneficial effect on working memory, found in many studies, might be due to TYR allowing maintenance of the optimal level of DA necessary for a balance between stable cognitive representations versus flexible updating of said representations (Cools and D'Esposito, 2011). However, this remains speculative until further investigation.

Alternatively, one study by Kishore et al. (2013) suggests at least part of TYR's mechanism of action may be enhancing NE function. They showed TYR supplementation during heat exposure had a beneficial effect on the event related potential P300 and reaction times on an auditory stimuli discrimination task. The P300 may reflect phasic activity of NE in the locus coeruleus (LC-NE) system (Nieuwenhuis et al., 2005), indicating TYR's effect on the P300 may have occurred by facilitating the function of this LC-NE system. This is a plausible biological mechanism of the aforementioned positive effects of TYR during stress, particularly on attention and vigilance. However, it is important to keep in mind that any effect of TYR on NE is mediated by TYR's conversion into DA and therefore a role for DA in these improvements should not be excluded. Indeed, in the next section we will report evidence showing TYR also enhances functions thought to be strongly related to DA.

2.3. Cognitive demands and healthy individuals

Lastly we review studies on TYR supplementation in healthy individuals who were not explicitly and overtly exposed to stressors that may impact their performance. Instead these studies all used rather challenging cognitive tasks, which were presumed to be demanding enough to induce a stress-like state leading to neurotransmitter depletion and reduced levels of performance, an effect TYR may counteract.

Consistent with the aforementioned studies on stress, two studies to date have shown TYR can enhance working memory performance, but in the absence of an overt exposure to stress. Instead, improvements were only found under particularly challenging conditions. Specifically, Thomas et al. (1999) found TYR only promoted working memory when other tasks were performed simultaneously, a feat that would normally degrade performance. Colzato et al. (2013) found TYR improved working memory even in single-task conditions, but only in the task's more demanding condition that placed a stronger load on memory. These results confirm TYR can benefit cognitive performance and highlight the importance of a performance-degrading factor for TYR to counteract.

Aside from working memory, TYR has also been shown to selectively improve inhibitory control without influencing response execution (Colzato et al., 2014a). Furthermore, research has found TYR can promote cognitive flexibility as measured in a task-switching paradigm. In this study TYR presumably improved performance by facilitating conflict-resolving processes that may have otherwise induced a stressful state (Steenbergen et al., 2015). Recently, TYR has also been shown to promote performance on a convergent-thinking task, which is thought to rely on DA-driven cognitive control (Colzato et al., 2014b). This finding in particular points to the possibility some benefits of TYR may be mediated by enhanced DA function. None of the aforementioned studies reports an influence of TYR on mood, but this is unsurprising given that mood was not reduced even in the placebo conditions, so there was no decrement to counteract.

All in all these results suggest TYR can improve cognitive performance without overt exposure to stress, but only if performance would normally be degraded by high cognitive demands. This is likely because high cognitive demands induce a stress-like state leading to catecholamine depletion, the negative consequences of which can be counteracted by TYR.

3. Conclusion

As the biochemical precursor of DA and NE, TYR has the potential to enhance catecholamine function in the brain when situational demands are particularly high. TYR's general mechanism of action is presumably helping the brain keep up with the need for elevated rates of neurotransmitter synthesis. Unfortunately, the potential of TYR supplementation as a treatment for psychiatric disorders seems limited at best. This may be due to the fact that the suboptimal catecholamine levels in many disorders are due to an impairment of DA and/or NE synthesis and metabolism. For example, in Parkinson's disease the enzyme that converts TYR into L-DOPA is less active. Such complications limit TYR's ability to promote optimal brain function (Zhu et al., 2012). In other words, disorders characterized by suboptimal DA and NE do not necessarily benefit from TYR supplementation. The potential of TYR for improving physical exercise during stress seems equally limited; perhaps because physical performance is not as directly linked to catecholamine levels in the brain as cognitive performance is. As such we hypothesize physical exercise may benefit from TYR only to the degree that it creates a stressful state in which cognitive control functions are challenged and neurotransmitter levels are depleted. By far the clearest picture arises from studies on TYR and cognitive performance. When healthy subjects are exposed to either external stressors or cognitively demanding situations, catecholamine levels in the brain decline and performance on cognitive tasks decreases accordingly. However, TYR supplementation seems to replete neurotransmitter levels in the brain and reverse the stress-induced degradation of a variety of cognitive functions. It is not yet known whether this improvement is because of enhancement of phasic NE firing in the locus coeruleus, which would benefit functions such as attention, or due to boosting DA function in striatal or prefrontal areas, which is closely associated with working memory function. In the end it may be both, or it may differ between different cognitive functions and specific tasks of interest.

In sum, the cognitive changes mediating performance improvements after TYR supplementation remain unknown and, unfortunately, most of the literature focuses on short rather than long-term settings. Nevertheless, based on this overview of the literature we conclude TYR is very promising as an enhancer of cognition and perhaps mood, but only when (healthy) individuals find themselves in stressful or cognitively demanding situations.

Contributors

Bryant Jongkees conducted literature research and wrote the initial manuscript. Bernhard Hommel, Simone Kühn and Lorenza Colzato edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.

Role of funding source

This work was supported by a research grant from the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO) awarded to Lorenza S. Colzato (Vidi grant: #452-12-001).

Conflicts of interest

None.

Acknowledgment

None.

References

- Akil, M., Kolachana, B.S., Rothmond, D.A., Hyde, T.M., Weinberger, D.R., Kleinman, J.E., 2003. Catechol-O-methyltransferase genotype and dopamine regulation in the human brain. J. Neurosci. 23, 2008–2013.
- Baddeley, A.D., Hitch, G., 1974. Working memory. In: Bower, G.H. (Ed.), The Psychology of Learning and Motivation: Advances in Research and Theory. Academic Press, New York, pp. 47–89.
- Banderet, L.E., Lieberman, H.R., 1989. Treatment with tyrosine, a neurotransmitter precursor, reduces environmental-stress in humans. Brain Res. Bull. 22, 759–762.
- Barch, D.M., Carter, C.S., 2005. Amphetamine improves cognitive function in medicated individuals with schizophrenia and in healthy volunteers. Schizophr. Res. 77, 43–58.
- Bongiovanni, R., Leonard, S., Jaskiw, G.E., 2013. A simplified method to quantify dysregulated tyrosine transport in schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 150, 386–391.

- Brodnik, Z., Bongiovanni, R., Double, M., Jaskiw, G.E., 2012. Increased tyrosine availability increases brain regional DOPA levels in vivo. Neurochem. Int. 61, 1001–1006.
- Chinevere, T.D., Sawyer, R.D., Creer, A.R., Conlee, R.K., Parcell, A.C., 2002. Effects of Ltyrosine and carbohydrate ingestion on endurance exercise performance. J. Appl. Physiol. 93, 1590–1597.
- Colzato, L.S., De Haan, A., Hommel, B., 2014a. Food for creativity: tyrosine promotes performance in a convergent-thinking task. Psychol. Res. 79, 709–714.
- Colzato, L.S., Jongkees, B.J., Sellaro, R., Hommel, B., 2013. Working memory reloaded: tyrosine repletes updating in the N-back task. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 7, 200.
- Colzato, L.S., Jongkees, B.J., van den Wildenberg, W.P.M., Hommel, B., 2014b. Eating to stop: tyrosine supplementation enhances inhibitory control but not response execution. Neuropsychologia 62, 398–402.
- Cools, R., D'Esposito, M., 2011. Inverted-U-shaped dopamine actions on human working memory and cognitive control. Biol. Psychiatry 69, e113–e125.
- Cools, R., Gibbs, S.E., Miyakawa, A., Jagust, W., D'Esposito, M., 2008. Working memory capacity predicts dopamine synthesis capacity in the human striatum. J. Neurosci. 28, 1208–1212.
- Cuche, J.L., Prinseau, J., Selz, F., Ruget, G., Tual, J.L., Reingeissen, L., et al., 1985. Oral load of tyrosine or l-dopa and plasma levels of free and sulfoconjugated catecholamines in healthy men. Hypertension 7, 81–89.
- Daniel, D.G., Weinberger, D.R., Jones, D.W., Zigun, J.R., Coppola, R., Handel, S., et al., 1991. The effect of amphetamine on regional cerebral blood flow during cognitive activation in schizophrenia. J. Neurosci. 11, 1907–1917.
 Daubner, S.C., Le, T., Wang, S.Z., 2011. Tyrosine hydroxylase and regulation of
- Daubner, S.C., Le, T., Wang, S.Z., 2011. Tyrosine hydroxylase and regulation of dopamine synthesis. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 508, 1–12.
- Dauer, W., Przedborski, S., 2003. Parkinson's disease: mechanisms and models. Neuron 39, 889–909.
- Davis, K.L., Kahn, R.S., Ko, G., Davidson, M., 1991. Dopamine in schizophrenia: a review and reconceptualization. Am. J. Psychiatry 148, 1471–1486.
- Deijen, J.B., 2005. Tyrosine. In: Lieberman, H.R., Kanarek, R.B., Orbleke, J.F. (Eds.), Nutrition Brain and Behavior. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp. 363–381.
- Deijen, J.B., Orbleke, J.F., 1994. Effect of tyrosine on cognitive function and bloodpressure under stress. Brain Res. Bull. 33, 319–323.
- Deijen, J.B., Wientjes, C.J.E., Vullinghs, H.E.M., Cloin, P.A., Langefeld, J.J., 1999. Tyrosine improves cognitive performance and reduces blood pressure in cadets after one week of a combat training course. Brain Res. Bull. 48, 203–209.
- Del Campo, N., Chamberlain, S.R., Sahakian, B.J., Robbins, T.W., 2011. The roles of dopamine and noradrenaline in the pathophysiology and treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 69, E145–E157.
- Deutsch, S.I., Rosse, R.B., Schwartz, B.L., Banay-Schwartz, M., McCarthy, M.F., Johri, S.K., 1994. L-tyrosine pharmacotherapy of schizophrenia: preliminary data. Clin. Neuropharmacol. 17, 53–62.
- Dunlop, B.W., Nemeroff, C.B., 2007. The role of dopamine in the pathophysiology of depression. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 64, 327–337.
- Eisenberg, J., Asnis, G.M., Van Praag, H.M., Vela, R.M., 1988. Effect of tyrosine on attention deficit disorder with hyperactivity. J. Clin. Psychiatry 49, 193–195.
- Fernstrom, J.D., 1990. Aromatic amino acids and monoamine synthesis in the central nervous system: influence of the diet. J. Nurt. Biochem. 1, 508–517.
- Fernstrom, J.D., 2000. Can nutrient supplements modify brain function? Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 71, 1669S-1673S.
- Fernstrom, J.D., Fernstrom, M.H., 2007. Tyrosine, phenylalanine, and catecholamine synthesis and function in the brain. J. Nutr. 137, 15395–15475.
- Finlay, J.M., 2001. Mesoprefrontal dopamine neurons and schizophrenia: role of developmental abnormalities. Schizophr. Bull. 27, 431–442.
- Foster, H.D., Hoffer, A., 2004. The two faces of I-DOPA: benefits and adverse side effects in the treatment of encephalitis lethargica, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Med. Hypotheses 62, 177–181.
- Gelenberg, A.J., Gibson, C.J., 1984. Tyrosine for the treatment of depression. Nutr. Health 3, 163–173.
- Gelenberg, A.J., Wojcik, J.D., Falk, W.E., Baldessarini, R.J., Zeisel, S.H., Schoenfeld, D., et al., 1990. Tyrosine for depression: a double-blind trial. J. Affect. Disord. 19, 125–132.
- Gelenberg, A.J., Wojcik, J.D., Growdon, J.H., Sved, A.F., Wurtman, R.J., 1980. Tyrosine for the treatment of depression. Am. J. Psychiatry 137, 622–623.
- Gibson, C.J., Wurtman, R.J., 1977. Physiological control of brain catechol synthesis by brain tyrosine concentration. Biochem. Pharmacol. 26, 1137–1142.
- Glaeser, B.S., Melamed, E., Growdon, J.H., Wurtman, R.J., 1979. Elevation of plasma tyrosine after a single oral dose of l-tyrosine. Life Sci. 25, 265–271.
- Goldberg, I.K., 1980. L-tyrosine in depression. Lancet 2, 364-365.
- Goldman-Rakic, P.S., Muly, E.C., Williams, G.V., 2000. D1 receptors in prefrontal cells and circuits. Brain Res. Rev. 31, 295–301.Growdon, J.H., Melamed, E., Logue, M., Hefti, F., Wurtman, R.J., 1982. Effects of oral I-
- tyrosine administration on CSF tyrosine and homovanillic acid levels in patients with Parkinson's disease. Life Sci. 30, 827–832.
- Guillin, O., Abi-Dargham, A., Laruelle, M., 2007. Neurobiology of dopamine in schizophrenia. Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 78, 1–39.
- Hanley, W.B., Lee, A.W., Hanley, A.J.G., Lehotay, D.C., Austin, V.J., Schoonheyt, W.E., et al., 2000. "Hypotyrosinemia" in phenylketonuria. Mol. Genet. Metab. 69, 286–294.
- Harald, B., Gordon, P., 2012. Meta-review of depressive subtyping models. J. Affect. Disord. 139, 126–140.
- Howes, O., McCutcheon, R., Stone, J., 2015. Glutamate and dopamine in schizophrenia: an update for the 21st century. J. Psychopharmacol. 29, 97–115.

- Jongkees, B.J., Hommel, B., Colzato, L.S., 2014. People are different: tyrosine's modulating effect on cognitive control in healthy humans may depend on individual differences related to dopamine function. Front. Psychol. 5, 1101.
- Kalsner, L.R., Rohr, F.J., Strauss, K.A., Korson, M.S., Levy, H.L., 2001. Tyrosine supplementation in phenylketonuria: diurnal blood tyrosine levels and presumptive brain influx of tyrosine and other large neutral amino acids. J. Pediatr. 139, 421–427.
- Kaufman, S., Friedman, S., 1965. Dopamine-beta-hydroxylase. Pharmacol. Rev. 17, 71–100.
- Kishore, K., Ray, K., Anand, J.P., Thakur, L., Kumar, S., Panjwani, U., 2013. Tyrosine ameliorates heat induced delay in event related potential P300 and contingent negative variation. Brain Cognit, 83, 324–329.
- Kvetnansky, R., Sabban, E.L., Palkovits, M., 2009. Catecholaminergic systems in stress: structural and molecular genetic approaches. Physiol. Rev. 89, 535–606.
- Leathwood, P.D., Pollet, P., 1983. Diet-induced mood changes in normal-populations. J. Psychiatr. Res. 17, 147–154.
- Lehnert, H., Reinstein, D.K., Strowbridge, B.W., Wurtman, R.J., 1984. Neurochemical and behavioral consequences of acute uncontrollable stress: effects of dietary tyrosine. Brain Res. 303, 215–223.
- Lemoine, P., Robelin, N., Sebert, P., Mouret, J., 1989. L-tyrosine: a long term treatment of Parkinson's disease. C. R. Acad. Sci. III 309, 43–47.
- Lieberman, H.R., Corkin, S., Spring, B.J., Growdon, J.H., Wurtman, R.J., 1983. Mood, performance, and pain sensitivity – changes induced by food constituents. J. Psychiatr. Res. 17, 135–145.
- Lieberman, H.R., Georgelis, J.H., Maher, T.J., Yeghiayan, S.K., 2005. Tyrosine prevents effects of hyperthermia on behavior and increases norepinephrine. Physiol. Behav. 84, 33–38.
- Lieberman, H.R., Kane, J.M., Alvir, J., 1987. Provocative tests with psychostimulant drugs in schizophrenia. Psychopharmacology 91, 415–433.
 Liggins, J., Pihl, R.O., Benkelfat, C., Leyton, M., 2012. The dopamine augmenter l-
- Liggins, J., Pihl, R.O., Benkelfat, C., Leyton, M., 2012. The dopamine augmenter l-DOPA does not affect positive mood in healthy human volunteers. PLoS One 7, e28370.
- Magill, R.A., Waters, W.F., Bray, G.A., Volaufova, J., Smith, S.R., Lieberman, H.R., et al., 2003. Effects of tyrosine, phentermine, caffeine d-amphetamine, and placebo on cognitive and motor performance deficits during sleep deprivation. Nutr. Neurosci. 6, 237–246.
- Mahoney, C.R., Castellani, J., Kramer, F.M., Young, A., Lieberman, H.R., 2007. Tyrosine supplementation mitigates memory decrements during cold exposure. Physiol. Behav. 92, 575–582.
- McConnel, H., 1985. Catecholamine metabolism in the attention deficit disorder implications for the use of amino-acid precursor therapy. Med. Hypotheses 17, 305–311.
- Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Kohn, P.D., Kolachana, B., Kippenhan, S., McInerney-Leo, A., Nussbaum, R., et al., 2005. Midbrain dopamine and prefrontal function in humans: interaction and modulation by COMT genotype. Nat. Neurosci. 8, 594–596.
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N.P., Emerson, M.J., Witzki, A.H., Howerter, A., Wager, T.D., 2000. The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: a latent variable analysis. Cogn. Psychol. 41, 49–100.
- Moustafa, A.A., Sherman, S.J., Frank, M.J., 2008. A dopaminergic basis for working memory, learning and attentional shifting in Parkinsonism. Neuropsychologia 46, 3144–3156.
- Muly III, E.C., Szigeti, K., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 1998. D1 receptor in interneurons of macaque prefrontal cortex: distribution and subcellular localization. J. Neurosci. 18, 10553–10565.
- Nemzer, E.D., Arnold, L.E., Votolato, N.A., McConnell, H., 1986. Amino-acid supplementation as therapy for attention-deficit disorder. J. Am. Acad. Child. Psychiatry 25, 509–513.
- Nieuwenhuis, S., Aston-Jones, G., Cohen, J.D., 2005. Decision making, the P3, and the locus coeruleus-norepinephrine system. Psychol. Bull. 131, 510–532.
- O'Brien, C., Mahoney, C., Tharion, W.J., Sils, I.V., Castellani, J.W., 2007. Dietary tyrosine benefits cognitive and psychomotor performance during body cooling. Physiol. Behav. 90, 301–307.
- Palinkas, L.A., Reedy, K.R., Smith, M., Anghel, M., Steel, G.D., Reeves, D., et al., 2007. Psychoneuroendocrine effects of combined thyroxine and triiodothyronine versus tyrosine during prolonged antarctic residence. Int. J. Circumpol. Heal 66, 401–417.
- Parker, G., Brotchie, H., 2011. Mood effects of the amino acids tryptophan and tyrosine. Acta Psychiat. Scand. 124, 417–426.
- Pellow, J., Solomon, E.M., Barnhard, C.N., 2011. Complementary and alternative medical therapies for children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Altern. Med. Rev. 16, 323–337.
- Pietz, J., Landwehr, R., Kutscha, A., Schmidt, H., De Sonneville, L., Trefz, F.K., 1995. Effect of high-dose tyrosine supplementation on brain function in adults with phenylketonuria. J. Pediatr. 127, 936–943.
- Pollin, W., Cardon Jr., P.V., Kety, S.S., 1961. Effects of amino acid feedings in schizophrenic patients treated with iproniazid. Science 133, 104–105.
- Posner, J., Gorman, D., Nagel, B.J., 2009. Tyrosine supplements for ADHD symptoms with comorbid phenylketonuria. J. Neuropsych. Clin. N. 21, 228-230.
- Rauch, T.M., Lieberman, H.R., 1990. Tyrosine pretreatment reverses hypothermiainduced behavioral depression. Brain Res. Bull. 24, 147–150.
- Reimherr, F.W., Wender, P.H., Wood, D.R., Ward, M., 1987. An open trial of l-tyrosine in the treatment of attention-deficit disorder, residual type. Am. J. Psychiatry 144, 1071–1073.

- Sapru, M.K., Rao, B.S.S.R., Channabasavanna, S.M., 1989. Serum dopamine-betahydroxylase activity in clinical subtypes of depression. Acta Psychiat. Scand. 80, 474–478.
- Seeman, P., 2013. Schizophrenia and dopamine receptors. Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol. 23, 999–1009.
- Shurtleff, D., Thomas, J.R., Ahlers, S.T., Schrot, J., 1993. Tyrosine ameliorates a coldinduced delayed matching-to-sample performance decrement in rats. Psychopharmacology 112, 228–232.
- Shurtleff, D., Thomas, J.R., Schrot, J., Kowalski, K., Harford, R., 1994. Tyrosine reverses a cold-induced working-memory deficit in humans. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 47, 935–941.
- Siessmeier, T., Kienast, T., Wrase, J., Larsen, J.L., Braus, D.F., Smolka, M.N., et al., 2006. Net influx of plasma 6-[F-18]fluoro-L-DOPA (FDOPA) to the ventral striatum correlates with prefrontal processing of affective stimuli. Eur. J. Neurosci. 24, 305–313.
- Slifstein, M., Van de Giessen, E., Van Snellenberg, J., Thompson, J.L., Narendran, R., Gil, R., et al., 2015. Deficits in prefrontal cortical and extrastriatal dopamine release in schizophrenia: a positron emission tomographic functional magnetic resonance imaging study. JAMA Psychiatry 72, 316–324.
- Smith, M.L., Hanley, W.B., Clarke, J.T.R., Klim, P., Schoonheyt, W., Austin, V., et al., 1998. Randomised controlled trial of tyrosine supplementation on neuropsychological performance in phenylketonuria. Arch. Dis. Child. 78, 116–121.
- Steenbergen, L., Sellaro, R., Hommel, B., Colzato, L.S., 2015. Tyrosine promotes cognitive flexibility: evidence from proactive vs. reactive control during task switching performance. Neuropsychologia 69, 50–55.
- Sutton, E.E., Coill, M.R., Deuster, P.A., 2005. Ingestion of tyrosine: effects on endurance, muscle strength, and anaerobic performance. Int. J. Sport. Nutr. Exerc 15, 173–185.
- Tam, S.Y., Elsworth, J.D., Bradberry, C.W., Roth, R.H., 1990. Mesocortical dopamine neurons: high basal firing frequency predicts tyrosine dependence of dopamine synthesis. J. Neural Transm. 81, 97–110.
- Tandon, R., Keshavan, M.S., Nasrallah, H.A., 2008. Schizophrenia, "just the facts" what we know in 2008. 2. Epidemiology and etiology. Schizophr. Res. 102, 1–18.
- Thomas, J.R., Lockwood, P.A., Singh, A., Deuster, P.A., 1999. Tyrosine improves

working memory in a multitasking environment. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 64, 495–500.

- Tumilty, L., Davison, G., Beckmann, M., Thatcher, R., 2014. Failure of oral tyrosine supplementation to improve exercise performance in the heat. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc 46, 1417–1425.
- Tumilty, L., Davison, G., Beckmann, M., Thatcher, R., 2011. Oral tyrosine supplementation improves exercise capacity in the heat. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 111, 2941–2950.
- Van Spronsen, F.J., De Groot, M.J., Hoeksma, M., Reijngoud, D.J., Van Rijn, M., 2010. Large neutral amino acids in the treatment of PKU: from theory to practice. J. Inherit, Metab. Dis. 33, 671–676.
- Van Spronsen, F.J., Van Rijn, M., Bekhof, J., Koch, R., Smit, P.G.A., 2001. Phenylketonuria: tyrosine supplementation in phenylalanine-restricted diets. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 73, 153–157.
- Watson, P., Enever, S., Page, A., Stockwell, J., Maughan, R.J., 2012. Tyrosine supplementation does not influence the capacity to perform prolonged exercise in a warm environment. Int. J. Sport. Nutr. Exerc 22, 363–373.
 Wiesel, F.A., Andersson, J.L.R., Westerberg, G., Wieselgren, I.M., Bjerkenstedt, L.,
- Wiesel, F.A., Andersson, J.L.R., Westerberg, G., Wieselgren, I.M., Bjerkenstedt, L., Hagenfeldt, L., et al., 1999. Tyrosine transport is regulated differently in patients with schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 40, 37–42.
- Wiesel, F.A., Edman, G., Flyckt, L., Eriksson, A., Nyman, H., Venizelos, N., et al., 2005. Kinetics of tyrosine transport and cognitive functioning in schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 74, 81–89.
- Wood, D.R., Reimherr, F.W., Wender, P.H., 1985. Amino acid precursors for the treatment of attention deficit disorder, residual type. Psychopharmacol. Bull. 21, 146–149.
- Wurtman, R.J., Hefti, F., Melamed, E., 1981. Precursor control of neurotransmitter synthesis. Pharmacol. Rev. 32, 315–335.
- Yeghiayan, S.K., Luo, S.Q., Shukitt-Hale, B., Lieberman, H.R., 2001. Tyrosine improves behavioral and neurochemical deficits caused by cold exposure. Physiol. Behav. 72, 311–316.
- Zhu, Y.Z., Zhang, J., Zeng, Y.J., 2012. Overview of tyrosine hydroxylase in Parkinson's disease. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 11, 350–358.